FRONTIER STONE:

The Story of Towa’s Old Capitol
by Robert K. Bower

O n July 4, 1839, a very special birth-
day party was held on the future

site ot the Stone Capitol overlooking
the Towa River. Iowa City was but a
plan on a piece of paper (the only
evidence of white settlement in the
area was a tew log cabins and clearings
tor future dwellings), yet more than 100
persons came from miles around to take
part in the celebration. They came to
mark the first anniversary of the birth
ot the Territory of Towa and the Sixty-
third birthday of the United States. But
they were also celebrating the impend-
ing birth of a building that would stand
as a silent witness to the growth of a
city and a state named Iowa.
vents that led to this Fourth of July
celebration on such an unlikely Spot,
only recently cleared of the wilderness
hazel brush and some of the trees.
began in June 1838 when Congress
passed the “organic law.” creating the
Territory of Iowa. This law empowered
the Governor and the Legislative As-
sembly “to establish the seat of Gov-
ernment for said Territory, at such
place as they may deem eligible.” and
the act appropriated twenty thousand
dollars to be applied to the construction
of public buildings at the seat of gOV-
ernment.

[n the autumn, the First Legislative
Assembly of the Territory of Iowa con-
vened at Burlington, and in his first

message Governor Robert Lucas out-
lined its duties and responsibilities un-
der the organic law. Lucas told the As-
sembly that the fairest way to carry out
the provisions of the organic law re-
garding the selection of a seat of gov-
ermment was “to provide by law for the
appointment of three disinterested
men, of known integrity and weight of
character, and to vest them with
authority to take the subject into con-
sideration, and to fix upon a place for
the seat of Government of the Ter-
FLOLY:

Lucas knew that the subject had “ex-
cited to a considerable degree, conflict-
Ing interests and local feelings, in
various parts of the Territory.” He
urged the Assembly to exclude from
their deliberations “every interest of a
local or private character.”

Lucas’s call for disinterestedness was
mostly political rhetoric. The legis-
lators understood that distinction and
prosperity would come to the new seat
of government, and much political
wrangling marked the debates over
the question. Finally, the legislators
reached agreement on a compromise
suggested by Colonel Thomas Cox: to
locate the capital “at the most eligible
place” on unoccupied government land
in Johnson County.

The bill was sent to Governor Lucas
on January 4, 1839. He studied it and re-




99

THE PALIMPSEST




100 THE PALIMPSEST

Governor Robert Lucas, oil portrait by George
Yewell

turned it to the Legislative Assembly
with suggestions for improvement. in-
OtS
Ing

ot the capitol. The legislators worked

cluding a provision for the sale of
on the site to help finance the builc

out a supplementary bill containing the
Governor’s suggestions. and 1t was this
bill that (on the motion ot Colonel Cox)
contained the name of the proposed
capital; it was to be called “Iowa City.- 2

The

locating the capital on unsurveyed gov-

Governor was uneasy about
ernment land without consent of the
Federal the

plementary bill contained a provision

Government, so Sup-
that authorized the Governor to apply
to Congress tor a donation ot tour SeC-
tions ot land on which to locate the seat

of government. Governor [.Lucas also
questioned if it was lecal for the
Legislative Assembly to name their

own members to the board of com-
missioners that would locate the site
tor the capitol and superintend its con-
struction. The Legislative Assembly
had met in a joint session in the House
on January 18, 1839, to appoint the
board of commissioners. The Assembly
elected Chauncey Swan, a member of
the House; Robert Ralston, a member
of the Council; and John Ronalds. who
was not a member of the Assembly.
Despite his objections, Governor Lucas
signed the two bills into law on January
21, 1839.

The tollowing March, Congress sanc-
tioned the selection of a site for the
capital of Iowa Territory by granting
~one entire section of land, of any of
the surveyed public lands in said Ter-
ritory, the purpose of erecting
thereon the public buildings for the use
of the Executive and Legislative de-
partments ot the Government of the
said Territory.” The act also authorized
the Territory to sell the remaining lots
in the section to help finance the erec-
tion ot the public buildings.

The next step was the actual selec-
tion of the site of the new seat of gov-
ernment to be located “at the most
eligible point within the present limits
of Johnson County....” To carry out
their responsibilities, the commis-
sioners, “‘or a majority of them,” were to
meet at Napoleon on the first day of
May 1839,

Chauncey Swan was the first com-
missioner to arrive in Napoleon on the
morning ot May 1. The village. 20 miles
trom the edge of Indian lands. consist-
ed of little more than John Gilbert’s
trading post. Even so, a group of curious
onlookers was on hand to witness the

tor

day’s events. As the morning wore on,




there was no sign of either of the other
commissioners. Residents of the area
became more and more uneasy. Was
there some confusion concerning the
time and place of meeting? Or was
there even some deliberate attempt
to delay the commissioners so that
Johnson County would not be able to
claim the coveted capital site?

At about noon, Chauncey Swan
stepped onto a drygoods box and made
a brief speech. He explained that at
least two of the commissioners were re-
quired by law to meet in Napoleon on
May 1 tor the purpose of selecting a site
tor the capital of the Territory. Robert
Ralston of Des Moines County was
more than a half day’s ride from
Napoleon, but Swan said there was a
chance John Ronalds could be reached
In time. So Swan asked for a volunteer
to attempt to ride the 35 miles to
Ronalds’ home and bring him back in

John Ronalds
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Chauncey Swan

time to take the commissioners’ oath
that day.

Philip Clark, one of the first settlers
of the area, stepped forward and of-
tered to attempt the difficult task. The
crowd cheered as he rode off, but they
were teartul that Clark would not be
able to make the 70-mile ride (including
terrying the Cedar River both ways) in
the remaining 12 hours of the day.
Henry Felkner, who was there. told the
Story:

. as it began to draw on toward mid-
night and no tidings, their fears began to
give way to despair. Swan often consult-
ed his watch and then would send some
one out to listen, but no sound could be
heard; this was repeated trequently until
at last the sound of horses’ hoofs were
heard in the distance approaching rapid-
ly. They did not slack up till they arrived
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at the place of meeting, and when the

riders dismounted and went in. Swan

again consulted his watch and found it
was just five minutes to twelve o’clock

Clark had saved the seat of Government

to Johnson county. All honor to Philip

Clark, and three cheers!

A Justice ot the Peace, Robert
Walker, was on hand to administer the
oath of office to the commissioners.
After Swan and Ronalds were duly
sworn into ottice and the date of May I,
1839 attixed to the document. the com-
missioners immediately adjourned the
meeting and agreed to meet the next
day. They were confident they had car-
ried out their legal obligations for the
day of May 1, but there were rumors
that the law had been stretched. Henry
Felkner observed “that from the time
of meeting until sun up were the
shortest six hours on record to that
date.”

(Robert A. Ryan photo)

On May 2, Swan and Ronalds met
again and, after appointing John
Frierson as clerk to the board, began
their search for the site of the new Ter-
ritorial capital. About two miles north
of Napoleon they paused. They were
standing on a high piece of ground on
the east side of the Iowa River.
Between where they stood and the
edge of the river, the slope was broken
by two level stretches of land., forming a
natural amphitheater. The river made
its way trom the northwest between
rocky banks of moderate height with
thick groves of trees, then turned south
past the site, and flowed off in the dis-
tance between uneven banks dotted
with oak trees. As the commissioners
taced “center stage” from their up-
permost seats of the amphitheater, they
saw blutfs rising 40 or 50 feet on the
west side of the river to a prairie
“sweeping westward in beautiful and
ocean like undulations a distance of
tive miles to Oldman’s Creek.” They
turned around to glimpse between the
trees the ground sloping slightly
toward a creek, then rising again to
torm oak and hickory-covered hills
overlooking the capitol site. They knew
the spot to be on the lower edge of a
timbered area between the Iowa and
Cedar Rivers known as “Big Grove.”
Further explorations during the next
two days revealed the area was well
drained and a good quantity of building
stone existed in the banks of the nearby
lowa. This was the place.

There was only one minor problem in
designating the site as the Territorial
capital. The Congressional Act of
March 3, 1839, granted one section of
“surveyed public lands” for the Ter-
ritorial capital. But since only two
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An 1855 lithographic vieu

townships in Johnson County had been
surveyed, there was not much choice
tor a legal site. However. one of the
commissioners had discussed the prob-
lem with the Surveyor General and
learned that an order might be obtained
for a special survey of any township in
which the location might be made.
So the commissioners felt free to pick
“the most eligible point” in Johnson
County.

The commissioners spent the morn-
ing of the third day of May examining
the “marble” quarry. The stone proved
to be a tannish-gray limestone suitable
tor building. The day, John
Frierson conducted an unofficial sur-
vey and determined the exact location
of the site.

On Saturday, May 4, 1839. Swan and

Ronalds otticially located the new seat

Sdlne

of government on Section 10 of Town-
ship 79 North of Range 6 West of the
5th Principal Meridian. In their report
to the the commissioners
said: “for the purpose of designating
the spot on which the public buildings
erected the undersigned
planted a hickory post in the ground. six
links west of a black oak tree two feet in
diameter, upon which the name of Iowa
City is written with a pencil: twelve
chains East of the lowa river.”

Governor.

are to be

Betore long, a more permanent post
appeared to mark the site. It was a
smoothly-hewn oak post inscribed with
two-inch high letters cut with a sur-
veyor's marking tool (supposedly by
[LLeander Judson, who was to draw the
tirst map of Iowa City). The inscription
read: “Seat of Government, City of

lowa, May 4th, 1839. C.

Swan, John
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The west face of Old Capitol. framed by the steps of

a decorative terrace added in the 1920s. (Robert A
Ryan ;J/If_}h:}

Ronalds, Rob’t. Ralston. commis-
sioners. Geo. Kelley, J. H. McKenny, of
Des Moines, J. W. Isett of Louisa, L. D.
Dillon of Dubuque, witness Sec. 10. T.
79, R. 6 W. 5th Mer.” Legend has it that
this post later was stored in a vault in
the basement of Old Capitol, until the
clerk of the United States District
Court one day used it for firewood.

Robert Ralston, the third commis-
sioner, had not yet taken part in the
location of the seat of government. He
arrived on Monday, May 6, was duly
sworn in, and gave his approval to the
actions ot the other two commissioners.
The next day the commissioners agreed
on Chauncey Swan to be Acting Com-
missioner and disbanded, having com-
pleted their initial task.

Chauncey Swan wasted no time.

After locating the site. the com-
missioners prepared a memorial to the
President of the United States request-
Ing a special survey of the Territorial
capital site. Swan sent copies of the
memorial to Governor Lucas and the
General Land Office in Washington. In
the meantime, Swan met with Ronalds
at his home in Louisa County, where
they “ordered that Thomas Cox and
John Frierson be emploved to survey
the town [of Iowa City| and L. Judson
to draw the necessary plats.” Frierson
was later commissioned U.S. Deputy
Surveyor to survey Scott and Iowa City
(now Lucas) townships in Johnson
County, which he also finished in July,
tinally legitimizing the site as the seat
of government of the Territory of lowa.

he work of surveying and laying
out the town site was halted for
the special first Fourth of July celebra-
tion in Iowa City. Even though this was
still the frontier, the Fourth was cel-
ebrated “in the most approved ‘down
east’ tashion,” according to an account
In a county history. Cyrus Sanders. an
early Johnson County settler who took
part in that first Fourth of July celebra-
tion, recalled that the stars and stripes
were unturled and attached to the top
of a tall young oak tree stripped of its
branches.

People from miles around brought
baskets of provisions for the picnic, but
the “fresh cooked” part of the meal was
prepared at the tavern in Gilbert’s
Trading Post and hauled to the capitol
site in wagons. Wagon boxes were lifted
ott their axles and overturned to serve
as picnic tables. After dinner the usual
patriotic toasts were offered. Then a
wagon was pulled into a shady spot and




a board laid across the box to form a sort
of rustic rostrum for the speakers. San-
ders claimed the orator placed one foot
on a barrel of Cincinnati whiskey in the
wagon, but the writer of the county his-
tory took pains to point out that though
the story may be very funny, “it isn’t
true.”

Colonel Thomas Cox, who less than
six months before had named the city
that was just beginning to spring up
about them, was chosen to preside over
the festivities. The reading of the
Declaration of Independence by Luke
Douglass was followed by the main ora-
tion by John Frierson. Though Sanders
described Frierson as possessing
“abilities much superior to the average
Fourth of July orator,” his physical ap-
pearance was somewhat less noble. ac-
cording to Sanders: “His complexion
was sandy, he was tall, spare, raw
boned, hard featured, stoop shouldered.
knock-kneed and pigeon toed.”

Cyrus Sanders did not write in his
diary that night; perhaps he was too
busy celebrating. He became ill the
next day, after cutting saw logs. By July
8 he was feeling better. so he walked
down to the capitol site and pulled out
his pocket diary to catch up the entries.
As he recalled the events of the Fourth.
he felt deeply the significance of the
spot where he stood. In this moment of
private retlection, he jotted down these
words:

How pleasant to stand and in imagina-
take a peep into futurity. Here
where I am standing in a little while will
the Capitol of a mighty state rear its
sculptured columns; whose walls will re-

tion

verberate with the eloquence of some
tuture Henry which will hold entranced
his admiring thousands. Yes here! where
there is nothing now to be seen but the
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towering oak and beautiful undulating

Prairie will perhaps in some future day

rise a majestic City—

Atter the Fourth, the surveying of the
town went ahead, but not without dif-
ticulty. The heavy morning dew on the
luxuriant vegetation prevented early
starts, and the afternoon heat was stif-
ling. The surveyors used Leander Jud-
son's map as a guide for laying out the
city. Finally the work was finished. and
Judson’s map was officially registered
with the recorder of Johnson County on
July 13.

This opened the way for the sale of
lots the following August and October.
According to Chauncey Swan’s report
to the Legislative Assembly, there were
181 lots officially sold for the sum of
$26,739.75. Of this, Swan had received
$7,105 in cash, the rest in notes.

The south face, seen in soft evening light.
(Robert A. Ryan photo)
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Swan was busy also with the begin-
ning phases of contruction of the Cap-
itol. Of course, the first step was to hire
an architect or architects for the build-
ing. It is plainly recorded in the journals
of the Second Legislative Assembly
that John F. Rague, who had designed
the Illinois Capitol in Springfield, was
the architect of the Iowa Capitol. But
how complete his plans were and how
taithtully they were followed are ques-
tions that may never be answered. for
the plans themselves cannot be found.

To complicate matters, legend
persists  that Father Samuel Charles
Mazzuchelli was the designer of the
building. Father Mazzuchelli was an
extraordinary person, serving as mis-
sionary to the Indians and rough traders
of the upper Mississippi during the
1830s. He ranged over a large part of
eastern lowa and southern Wisconsin,
and he founded schools and

many

Samuel Charles Mazzuchelli

churches in settlements of the area.
Besides being a priest and a scholar.
Mazzuchelli was an excellent architect.
He designed and built churches in

Dubuque, Galena, Davenport, and
[owa City, to name just a few.
The legend that Mazzuchelli de-

signed Old Capitol probably first ap-
peared in print a few weeks after his
death in the spring of 1864 when Catho-
lic newspapers carried a long obituary:.
Included in the account of Mazzu-
chelli’s life was the following sentence:
“The tirst Legislature of Iowa engaged
him to draw a plan for their new capital,
which cost $120,000.” Oddly, the first
newspaper known to have carried the
obituary was a California paper, the San
t'rancisco Monitor.

Since 1864, the legend has been stat-
ed as fact in several sources. As recently
as 1967 the New Catholic Encyclopedia
published by McGraw-Hill stated that
Mazzuchelli “was responsible in part
tor the planning and design of the old
state capitol in lowa City, lowa.”

Some lowa historians also have
perpetuated the legend. In 1888, Henry
W. Lathrop wrote in the Iowa His-
torical Record: “The plan of the build-
Ing, as originally drawn by Father
Mazzuchelli, had no porticos and it had
two domes on the roof, one on each side
of the cupola, these domes were af-
terwards omitted and the porticos
added.” Lathrop’s description undoubt-
edly refers to the drawing of the
“Capitol of Iowa Ter.” that appeared in
the upper lefthand corner of the print-
ed version of Judson’s first map of Iowa
City. Was this indeed drawn from
Mazzuchelli’s plans perhaps already in
the hands of Chauncey Swan by July of
18397 Probably not, for the drawing did
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The St. Louis lithographer who printed Judson’s original map of lowa
City added this double-domed drawing to the map, labeling it “Capitol
of Iowa Ter.” More likely it was simply an ornament and not intended

to depict the plan for the building.

not appear on Judson’s original version
of the map; it was apparently added by
the lithographer of St. Louis who pre-
pared the map for printing. Did Lathrop
have some convincing reason for link-
ing Mazzuchelli with the drawing on
the Judson map, or was he stretching
the evidence because of the already
blossoming Mazzuchelli legend? There
1s no clear-cut answer.

Similarly, H. G. Plum wrote in the
January 1896 issue of the Iowa His-
torical Record.:

The original plan of the building was
designed by Father Mazzuchelli. a
Catholic priest, of Dubuque. According
to this plan, a copy of which may be seen
in the rooms of the Iowa State Historical
Society, two cupolas were to surmount
the roof instead of one; and the porticos
were to extend along the entire front of
the building. John F. Rague & Co. ob-
tained the contract to construct the
building. and the plans were somewhat
altered.

The original plan to which Plum refers
has not since turned up in the archives

ot the State Historical Society, nor has
any other writer mentioned it. Plum
may also have been referring to the
drawing on Judson’s map.

Mazzuchelli’s Memoirs, pub-
lished in 1844, give no clues to the
identity of the designer of Old Capitol.
In one passage, Mazzuchelli describes
the building. giving its
dimensions. But he says no more than
any other close observer might say upon
viewing the building. In fact, he says
less about the structure than one would
expect trom an architect.

In the records of the Territorial As-
sembly, there is no evidence specifical-
ly associating Father Mazzuchelli with
the building of Old Capitol. But there
are many reterences to John F. Rague.

OWTII

CVvEeIl

In his report to the House dated
December 6, 1839, Chauncey Swan
wrote:

A draft of the plan for the erection of
the public buildings, is in the hands of
the Architect, Mr. Rague, of Springfield,
[llinois.

As he is the contractor for the erection
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of the capitol, it was thought necessary
by the board of commissioners. as well as
by himself, that he should retain the plan
which was adopted by the board. to ena-
ble him to draw a bill of items. and form
his models in accordance with the
specitications.
Swan may have been referring to the
plan drawn up by the commissioners on
the day they had officially located the

site of the capitol. The Journal of

Proceedings of the commissioners stat-
ed that on May 4, 1839 they “consumed
the day in drawing plans for the Capitol
and placing a stake in the center of the
proposed site.” Swan had probably con-
sulted with architects or builders
(perhaps even Mazzuchelli, who was in

the Dubuque area at the time), since he
had a firm enough idea of what the
building would look like to draw up a

tairly detailed list of materials
necessary tor the construction of the
building.

The list was published between May
4 and October 26 in several news-
papers, mostly around the Territory but
also in such Eastern papers as the
Washington Globe, the Albany Argus,
and the Boston Statesman. The notice
stated that the commissioners would
receive sealed bids for furnishing
materials for the building. The notice

gave the specific dimensions of the

building, the number and height of

lowa artist Mildred Pelzer completed this oil painting of the construction of Old Capitol in 1934. Father
Samuel Mazzuchelli is the focal point of the painting, even though Pelzer probably knew of the con-
troversy surrounding the identity of the building’s designer. It is a fine example of New Deal painting,
making up in artistic value what it lacks in historical accu racy. For many years, it and several other Pelzer
paintings hung in the lobby of an Iowa City hotel. The murals were nearly destroyed when the hotel was

remodeled in the 1960s.

but two local businessmen salvaged and restored several of the paintings.

(courtesy of Richard T. Feddersen and Old Capitol Motors, lowa City)




stone columns, and the kinds of
materials needed for construction.
Proposals were to be opened on Nov-
ember 4, 1839, “and the lowest
responsible bids will, in all cases. be re-
ceived.”

The following paragraph from the
notice is the most interesting: “A plan
of the building and bills of the
materials may be seen by application to
either of the subscribers: but they re-
serve to themselves the right to alter
any part thereof previous to the con-
clusion of the contract.” This. together
with the quotation above from the
House Journal, indicates that Rague
was given preliminary plans for the
erection of the building.

A hint concerning these plans given
to Rague is found in notes on debate in
the House appearing in the Burlington
Hawk-Eye on January 9, 1840. Shep-
herd Leffler, a representative from Des
Moines County, criticized the actions
of the commissioners regarding the
erection ot the capitol:

By the law [the commissioners| were to

adopt a plan, and then issue proposals for

six months. As late as October no plan
had been agreed upon, and the lettings
had to be made the 4th of Noy ember. It
was ascertained that the acting com-
missioner had authorized a person in Du
Buque to draught a plan—but when it
was submitted to Mr. Rague, it was
pointed out to be defective and was
thrown aside, and without attording an
opportunity tor competition, the acting
commissioner actually made an arrange-
ment with Mr. Rague for a plan of the
building, and employed him as architect
of the same.
The mention of “a person in Du
Buque” may lend some weight to the
argument that Mazzuchelli was in-
volved in the early planning stages, but

judges,
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by itself it is little more than enticing.

On November 12, 1839, Rague en-
tered into a contract in which he agreed
“to erect the capitol to the top ot the
horizontal cornice, Porticos, columns.
entablitures, &c. in two years from that
date, according to the original plans. for
$46,400, the Commissioner turnishing
the materials.” Soon after Rague en-
tered into the contract, the editor of the
[llinois Springfield Journal ran a story
about it. The editor claimed to have
seen “'a part ot the plan of the building”’
and went on to describe in some detail
the floor containing the legislative
chambers. Whether the plan mentioned
was one recently drawn up by Rague or
one given him by the commissioners is
not clear in the newspaper article. It
seems probable that the plan was
Rague’s, however, for on December 20.
1839, Rague appeared before the
legislative Council in Burlington “to
exhibit his plans for the Public build-
Ings. ..."~

One of the legislators, Joseph C.
Hawkins of Des Moines County, des-
cribed Rague’s proposal as “a beautiful
plan—and if carried out it would be
magniticent—but it would cost. accord-
ing to the calculation of competent
$250,000.” Hawkins, Leffler.
and other representatives from the
southern part of the Territory were still
bitter over the selection of Iowa City as
the seat of government. They felt “the
south” had been slighted. They even
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introduced a bill in January 1840 to let
the people vote on whether to move the
capital to Mt. Pleasant. Their bill was
deteated, but they succeeded in pass-

ing a bill to limit the building funds for

the capitol.

This act required the commissioners
to adopt a plan that would cost no more
than $51,000. The act called for strict
compliance with its provisions and the
rejection of more expensive plans
adopted prior to its enactment. Fur-
thermore, the commissioners were re-
quired to submit a full report to the
special session of the Assembly
scheduled for July. The report was to
include the plan of the building and full
details regarding the contracts entered
into. Swan did submit a report, but
since it was not published we cannot be
sure it and how much Rague’s plans
were altered.

Work had hardly begun on the foun-
dation of the capitol when on March 14.
1840, the contract with Rague was
altered to eliminate construction of the
porticos. Rague and Co., under terms of
the new contract, would be paid
$34,000 plus an additional $5.000 for
turnishing stone for part of the build-
ing. Also party to the contract were
William McDonald and William Skeen.
who had worked on the Illinois capitol.
Two days after the contract was signed.
Skeen withdrew from the firm of Rague

The floor plans of the original building. The first
floor was given over to offices for state officials and
the Supreme Court chamber. After the building
passed to T'he University of lowa, the president’s
office occupied one corner of the first floor. The
House and Senate Chambers were on the second
floor. The House Chamber has been restored to its
I840s condition, but the Senate room remains as it
was nfhﬂ'r}n’rrrun\!rurfhnltd_fhr 1920s. At the
central core of the building is the famous reverse
spiral staircase. (courtesy The University of lowa)
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and Co., but he continued as a foreman
on the project under other contracts
with the commissioners.

Rague, McDonald & Co. worked on
the foundation until July, when they

“threw up” the contract. They received
$10,000 tor work already completed.
but Swan discovered he had paid them
too much and required them to return
some $1,100 in money and tools.

Rague may have withdrawn because
of the reduction in funds by the
legislature. But another reason was
given publicly. The editor of the Burl-
ington Hawk-Eye wrote in the July 23.
1830 issue: “We have been informed by
Mr. Rague, Architect and Contractor of
the Iowa Capitol, that on account of the
tailure of the Quarry, the Commis-
sioners and himself have amicably can-
celled the contract, and Mr. R. is
employed by the Commissioners to
make all the detail drawing as the work
progresses. We understand the original

THE PaLimMpsesT 111
plan of the building will be preserved
and is to be built of ruble masonry and
stuccoed.” This is one of the last con-
temporary reterences to Rague’s con-
nection with the building of the Stone
Capitol.

A n ju]v 4, 1840, the foundation of
Y the Capitol was only a few feet
al)me th(* ground, but already the com-
were plagued with
shortages of building stone and finan-
cial But this did little to
dampen the spirits of Iowa Citians.

missioners

wWorries.

They were determined to properly
celebrate Towa City’s second Fourth of
July.

The crowd assembled at Theodore
Sanxay’s new house on lowa Avenue. A
workman placed the last brick on the
structure—Iowa City’s first brick
and unturled Old Glory as the
The bricks had been
who

house—
crowd cheered.

burned by Sylvanus Johnson

This late-nineteenth centu ry engraving shows the Old Capitol and surrounding [ niversity buildings.
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would also provide bricks for the in-
terior walls of the Capitol. Johnson
himself was there with his bass viol to
add to the festivities along with a few
other musicians. After a spirited rendi-
tion ot the Star Spangled Banner. the
crowd marched up Iowa Avenue to the
Capitol site for the laying of the cor-
nerstone.

Chauncey Swan lowered the copper
box into the stone as a description of its
contents was read to the crowd. The
box contained copies of several United
States and Territorial documents such
as the Declaration of Independence
and the Organic Law, as well as one
copy of each of the Territorial news-
papers. Also included was a scroll con-
taining a description of the occasion
and a list of important public officials—

from President Martin Van Buren and
Governor Robert Lucas down to the
commissioners themselves. Included in
the list was “John F. Rague, Architect
of the Capitol of lowa.”

Governor Lucas himself was on hand
with “plumb and square” as the iron
crane swung the stone into place. After
laying the cornerstone. Governor Lucas
delivered a short speech. Then the
crowd moved to a nearby grove for
a reading of the Declaration of Inde-
pendence before they marched to the
City Park—in the block bounded by
lowa, Jetterson, Dubuque, and Linn
Streets—where the food was ready and
waiting.

After an elegant feast, the table
cloths were removed for the traditional
Fourth of July toasts. Thirteen regular

t
]

The House Chamber, restored with a lobby, legislators’ desks and chairs, ® §
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toasts and tifteen volunteer toasts were
otfered. E. Bliss, Jr. spoke for many in
the crowd when he toasted “Iowa C ity;
the splendor of her location. the rapidi-
ty ot her growth, the enterprise of her
citizens is unequalled by any town in
the west; one year ago a naked spot of
earth, now containing one hundred and
twenty-tive houses, and six hundred
and four inhabitants. May her increase
in literature and religion far exceed her
increase of population.” The day’s
testivities ended in the proper spirit
that evening with a “grand ball.”
Governor Lucas returned to Burl-
Ington, and in his message to the
special session of the Legislative As-
sembly he mentioned his trip to Iowa
City: “I was gratified to see the ex-
tensive improvements that have been

|||||MI
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s platform. The visitors’ gallery projects overhead. (John Schultz photo)

made in that place within the last vear.
The basement story of the Capitol is
nearly completed, and in justice to the
acting Commissioner, as well as the
gentlemen who performed the work. I
must say that, so far as the work has pro-
gressed, it was done in the most sub-
stantial and workmanlike manner. . .
But with the the City
Quarry, the building progressed slowly,
and alternatives to cut stone were being
considered for building materials.
However, a new was located
about 20 miles the Cedar
River. Soon wagons filled with stone
and drawn by six or eight oxen could be
seen lumbering toward the Capitol site,
their drivers cracking long whips and
“making the air sing with expletives.”
Dragging the stone overland such a

tailure of

quarry

away on
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The House Chamber, restored with a lobby, legislators’ desks and chairs, and Speaker’s platform. The visitors

would also provide bricks for the in-
terior walls of the Capitol. Johnson
himselt was there with his bass viol to
add to the festivities along with a few
other musicians. After a spirited rendi-
tion ot the Star Spangled Banner, the
crowd marched up Iowa Avenue to the
Capitol site for the laying of the cor-
nerstone.

Chauncey Swan lowered the copper
box into the stone as a description of its
contents was read to the crowd. The
box contained copies of several United
States and Territorial documents such
as the Declaration of Independence
and the Organic Law, as well as one
copy ot each of the Territorial news-
papers. Also included was a scroll con-
taining a description of the occasion
and a list of important public officials—

SR hL ¢
¥ n L |

e ——y

3

h i
W 4 -
I .

i W -y
¥ g141

from President Martin Van Buren and
Governor Robert Lucas down to the
commissioners themselves. Included in
the list was “John F. Rague, Architect
ot the Capitol of Iowa.”

Governor Lucas himselt was on hand
with “plumb and square” as the iron
crane swung the stone into place. After
laying the cornerstone, Governor Lucas
delivered a short speech. Then the
crowd moved to a nearby grove for

e

a reading ot the Declaration of Inde-
pendence betore they marched to the
City Park—in the block bounded by
[owa, Jetterson, Dubuque, and Linn
Streets—where the food was ready and
wailting.

Atter an elegant feast, the table
cloths were removed for the traditional
Fourth of July toasts. Thirteen regular
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toasts and titteen volunteer toasts were
ottered. E. Bliss, Jr. spoke for many in
the crowd when he toasted “lowa City;
the splendor of her location, the rapidi-
ty ot her growth, the enterprise ot her
citizens is unequalled by any town in
the west; one year ago a naked spot ot
carth, now containing one hundred and
twenty-five houses, and six hundred
and four inhabitants. May her increase
in literature and religion far exceed her
increase of population.” The day’s
festivities ended in the proper spirit
that evening with a “grand ball.”
Governor Lucas returned to Burl-
ington, and in his message to the
special session of the Legislative As-
sembly he mentioned his trip to Iowa
City: “I was gratified to see the ex-
tensive improvements that have been
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gallery projects overhead. (John Schultz photo)

made in that place within the last year.
The basement story of the Capitol is
nearly completed, and in justice to the
acting Commissioner, as well as the
gentlemen who pertormed the work, I
must say that, so tar as the work has pro-
oressed, it was done in the most sub-
stantial and workmanlike manner. . . .”
But with the failure ot the City
Quarry, the building progressed slowly,
and alternatives to cut stone were being
considered for building materials.
However, a new quarry was located
about 20 miles away on the Cedar
River. Soon wagons filled with stone
and drawn by six or eight oxen could be
seen lumbering toward the Capitol site,
their drivers cracking long whips and
“making the air sing with expletives.”
Dragging the stone overland such a
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long way was time-consuming and ex-
pensive. The cost of getting the east
doorsill in place alone was said to be
$120. Rumblings of discontent in the
Legislative Assembly regarding the
Acting Commissioner were growing
louder.

Chauncey Swan pushed ahead with
the construction, notwithstanding the
criticism trom the legislature. He was
accustomed to the complaints, having
endured them almost from the begin-
ning ot his tenure as commissioner.
Swan’s report to the Assembly in No-
vember 1840 showed the progress he
was making. He listed expenditures for
such materials and services as lumber:
3000 bushels of sand; powder, tools.
and brimstone; ropes, shovels. and

:

A view of the House Chamber taken from the gallery. Most of the furnishings of the
restored Chamber are reproduced from original Old Capitol examples. The curved
desks and cane chairs for the 26 members of the House were arranged in a crowded
semi-circle in front of the Speaker’s platform. (John Schultz photo)

buckets; joists, lintels, and putlocks;
team work; expenses in quarry on the
Cedar; hewing timber; blacksmithing:
mason’s lines and files: brick: three
water barrels; 2240 feet of plank; 600
bushels of lime; hauling a safe from
Bloomington; iron; timber for the roof:
1250 teet of pine plank; nails, and two-
thirds of the rock needed to complete
the building. Swan also reported that:
The inside walls of the building are
erected to the second floor. The outside
wall of the north end to the top of the
second tier of windows. East front to the
centre; the south end and west front,
nearly to the bottom of the same. I have
caused temporary roofs to be erected

over all the walls. to secure them from
frost and rain during the winter.

A month later, on December 9.

P



legislators” complaints came to a head

when a committee was appointed under

a joint resolution of the House and the
Council “To repair to Iowa City, ex-
amine the public buildings, materials
on hand, books, papers, and records of
the Acting Commissioner, and collect
all the information they may be able to
procure, and report the same to the
Legislative Assembly as soon as prac-
ticable.”

The report, filed later that month.
was critical ot the way Swan was hand-
ling things, but there was little
evidence that he was failing to carry out
his responsibilities as best he could un-
der the circumstances. A minority re-
port partially vindicated Swan. but it
too tound fault with him for being “too
indetinite” in his record keeping.

The upshot of the investigation was a
revolutionary act passed by the As-
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sembly and signed by the Governor on
January 14, 1841. The act abolished the
post of Acting Commissioner and creat-
ed two new positions in its place: Ter-
ritorial Agent to handle the financial
matters, and Superintendent of Public
Buildings to superintend the erection
of the Capitol. Governor Lucas prompt-
ly appointed Chauncey Swan to the
one-year Superintendent post.

Jesse Williams, the new Territorial
Agent, immediately took steps to re-
lieve the money shortage. He negotiat-
ed a loan (approved by the Legislative
Assembly) of $5,500 with the Miners’
Bank of Dubuque. He reduced the
price of lots in Iowa City to encourage
sales. And he issued certificates of in-
debtedness, called “script” or “scrip,”
tor work done on the building. With
economic hard times engulfing the city,
scrip soon became a common medium

The view of the House Chamber from the Speaker’s platform, taken with a special 180°lens. (John Schultz

photo)
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ot exchange in the area. When the loan
from the Miners’ Bank came due in
1842, however, the Territory was una-

ble to pay it, leading to the downfall of

the Bank. Merchants began to refuse to
accept the scrip that flooded the city:.
But construction of the building con-
tinued amid the financial difficulties.

In June 1841, the editor of the
Bloomington Herald visited Iowa City
and had this to say about the
Statehouse:

The walls of the capitol are up to the
top ot the tirst storv with the exception
of one layer of stone on part of the west
side, and the joists for the second story
are partly laid on. The superintendent is
actively and constantly engaged in the
discharge of his duties and has prosecut-

-
o
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ed operations with a dispatch beyond the
expectations of any of the friends of the
place. At present there are about 60
hands engaged on the building and about
20 in the quarry. Some cutters receive
$2.50 and laborers $1.25 per day in scrip,
tor the redemption of which all unsold
city lots are pledged. . . . The timbers for
the roof are partly on the ground and in
such a state of forwardness that it is sup-
posed that in two weeks after the walls
are up, the building can be put under
cover, so it is thought quite probable that
a sutticient number of rooms can be so
tar finished as to be used at the next
session of the Legislature.

The Legislature would have to wait
another year to convene in the Stone
Capitol. In December 1841, Swan re-
ported the east wall was finished all the

4.

o
L
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A faded and deteriorating photograph (probably a Daguerreotype) of Old Capitol, dated 1853. The place-
ment of the chimneys in this photo aided restoration researchers in locating the fireplaces and stovepipe
holes. (courtesy of the Wetherby Collection, Putnam Museum. Davenport, lowa)
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A graduating music class gathered on the steps of Old Capitol for this group portrait taken in the 1860s

(courtesy of the Wetherby Collection. Putnam Museum, Davenport, lowa)

way to the comice, while the west wall
and ends of the building were five feet
short of the cornice. The roof was more
than half completed and “under a shed”
to protect it from the weather. The win-
dow frames and sashes. the timbers and
sheeting for the remainder of the roof.
and the oak lumber necessary to ““in-
close the building and lay the floors”
were all on hand.

About a month after filing this report,
Chauncey Swan stepped down as of-
ticial superintendent of construction
of the Capitol, and William B. Snyder
was appointed to take his place. Even
atter his withdrawal Chauncey Swan at-
tempted to clear his name of charges of
misconduct in office by filing affidavits
with the legislative Council. A commit-

tee examined the affidavits and made
the following resolution: “Resolved.
That, in the opinion of this Council. the
several charges heretofore preferred
against Chauncey Swan of malconduct
in, and abuse of the office of Superin-
tendent of public buildings at lowa Ci-
ty, are untrue.” But partisan politics
prevailed in the Council, and instead of
approving the resolution the Council
tabled it.

istory has vindicated Chauncey

Swan—tor he is credited with
building, if not designing, the Stone
Capitol. A report }}}' Swan’s successor in
January 1843 indicated that Swan did
not need elaborate plans, by Rague or
anyone else, to erect the Capitol.
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(Robert A. Ryan photo)

Snyder reported, “I have not been able
to make an accurate estimate for the
cupalo, on account of there being no
plan for the cupalo (nor for any thing
else) in the Superintendent’s office
when I received it, and having enough
to attend to through the season, I did
not draw one.” The “working plans for
the building,” for which John F. Rague
was paid $150 when he left the project
in 1840, must have been very sketchy,
for they were either lost or considered
too insignificant to mention less than
three vyears later. Swan and Skeen
(Rague’s former employee) had skillful-

ly carried on the construction of the
handsome building, adapting its plan to
the restrictions of the Assembly.

Nevertheless, the building seems to
have ended up much as Rague had en-
visioned it. It turned out to be very
close to the plan in the December 1840
committee report, adopted before major
restrictions were placed upon the com-
missioners. The plan called for a build-
ing 120 teet long and 60 feet wide,

to be ornamented by magnificent
porticos, one on each side, supported by
tour massive pillars, twelve feet in ad-
vance of the walls of the building. . ..
The interior arrangement is as follows:
the basement story is entered by two
doors in the opposite ends, both opening
into a hall seven feet wide, which runs
directly through the building north and
south, dividing it into two equal parts.
There are four rooms on each side, about
twenty teet square, designed for com-
mittee rooms. There is also a large and
convenient wood-room, and a fireproof
vault, arched with brick. and covered
with grouted masonry more than three
teet thick, for the safety of public docu-
ments. On the next floor there is the
same division north and south, and a
broad hall or vestibule east and west, en-
tered from the porticos on each side of
the building. North of the vestibule, east
side, is a room forty-three by twenty-two
and a half feet, designed for the supreme
court; a corresponding room of the same
size on the south of the vestibule, is de-
signed for the use of the Secretary of the
Territory. West of the north and south
hall are four rooms, equal in size, de-
signed for the use of the Governor,
Auditor, Treasurer, and the Library. On
the upper floor the north and south hall
is omitted. In the south wing is the



The columns in the first floor central lobby frame
the spiral staircase. (Robert A. Ryan photo)

Representatives hall, fifty-two by forty-
three feet in the clear. In the north wing
are the Council chamber and three small
committee rooms, cut off from the west
side of it.
The crowning touch was a spiral
Staircase in the center of the building,
originally planned to extend from the
basement to the cupola.

Some credit for the final, magnificent
edifice must also go to William Snyder.
Upon assuming duties of the office of
Superintendent, he immediately locat-
ed a new quarry about ten miles
northeast of the city and prepared boats
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for floating the stone down the Iowa
River to the Capitol site. He finished
the walls and roof, covering it with Al-
legheny pine shingles purchased in
Cincinnati. Under his supervision, the
Statehouse (though still unfinished)
was ready for the Legislative Assembly
in the fall of 1842.

A wvisitor to the new Territorial
capital in 1843 remarked that “The
State house is covered & two or three
rooms tinished; the east and west fronts
are alike but the steps and pillars ap-
proaching the doors in the center are
not built, the cornice not on nor the
cupola or inside generally finished.”

Construction continued over the next
decade as money became available. The
cupola gradually took shape; chimneys
appeared; and steps and flagging were
added to the east portico. But the
Capitol was still “in a very unprotected
condition, subject to be injured by
storms”” when lowa became a state in
1846.

In 1848, the Assembly halls were
nearly tinished. And the following year
money was appropriated to finish the
cupola, basement, and first floor. In
1851, tunds were appropriated for stairs
in the building and for some work on
the grounds, including the addition of a
tence. Later, $3,000 was appropriated
“tor repairing and modifying the build-
Ing.”’

In 1857, state government followed
the westward movement of settlement
in Iowa. Des Moines became the
capital, and the Stone Capitol became
the central building of the University of
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[owa. It was used chietly by the law col-
lege until 1910. In the 1920s, attempts
were made to reconstruct the building,
but in many ways Old Capitol may be
considered incomplete until this Bicen-
tennial year, when major restoration
completed and
turnished to represent various periods
trom Territorial to University days.

was rooins were

: he Old Stone Capitol was to wit-
ness may important events in the
transtormation of a sparsely populated
Territory to a thriving Midwestern
state. In the early days, it housed the
last four Territorial Assemblies and the
tirst six General Assemblies of the new
state. It also witnessed three constitu-
tional conventions (1844, 1846, and
1857), the birth of the Republican party
in lowa, and the death of the old Whig
party.
The Old Stone Capitol became a
natural gathering place. Her steps have
held crowds assembled for mourning,

tor patriotic celebration, and for social
protest. In 1865, her brow was draped
with black crepe to mourn the death of
a great President. The vyear before,
nearly 40 students had assembled on
her steps to enroll as soldiers in a tragic
war. A century later students would
gather on the same steps to protest
another war.

But what of tomorrow? Will the Old
Stone Capitol be a spiritual as well as a
physical reality for generations of
[owans to come? There is little doubt
that the majestic building will continue
in the role eloquently described by
Benjamin Franklin Shambaugh in 1937:

The Old Stone Capitol will stand
four-square to the world, facing
east and facing west, with walls of
stone and lighted dome, still
taithtully performing its spiritual
function of linking the memories of
the past with the hopes and aspira-

tions of the future. 0

Note on Sources

The standard source on the history of Old Capitol is
Benjamin F. Shambaugh, The Old Stone Capitol
Remembers (lowa City: State Historical Society of
lowa, 1939). Many other secondarv and primary
| sources were also consulted for this article. inc lud-

ing period newspapers, letters, and documents
‘ The research files assembled under the directicn of
Margaret N. Keves ftor the recent restoration of the
building were open to the author, for which he is
grateful. An annotated version of this article is
available in the files of the Division of the State
Historical Society, lowa City

——— ———
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